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Chapter 5: The Archaeology of Aran

CHAPTER 5

The Archaeology of Aran

John Waddell

"...a uniquely tender and memorious
ground’
Tim Robinson

Introduction

The bare limestone landscape and the numer-
ous ancient monuments of the Aran Islands
have fascinated visitors for many years. The
impression of an isolated stony world on the
edge of a limitless ocean has only accentuated
the attraction of the great stone forts and early
churches, and much sense and much nonsense
has been written about them.

The stone forts, for instance, have been vari-
ously considered as the last defences of a peo-
ple driven to the western extremities of the
known world by successive invaders from the
east and as the remnants of a formidable barri-
er to a threat from a lost Atlantic continent to
the west.! Even the very name Aran has gener-
ated woolly speculation. Fanciful suggestions
include its derivation from Ard-Thuinn mean-
ing ‘height above the waves’ or even from
Aaron, the brother of Moses! However, the
name derives from ara, the Irish word for kid-
ney, which has come to mean the loins or back
and the name, as in druim, has thus been given
to a ridge of land.?

The three islands, Inis Mor or Arainn, Inis
Medin, the middle island, and Inis Oirr, the
eastern island, lie north-west to south-east
across the mouth of Galway Bay and are geo-
logically an extension of the limestone terrain
of the Burren in Co. Clare. Some writers’ have
romantically stressed the geographical isola-
tion of the islands but it is worth noting that
Inis Oirr is only about eight kilometres from
Clare and Inis Mor only a little further from the
coast of Connemara. Others have been struck
by the sparse vegetation and great expanses of
exposed limestone, and have emphasized the
barrenness of the islands: ‘nothing to strike the
eye at first sight but a cold, hard, barren mass
of sea-girt stone’.* But Aran is much more than
bare stone. The limestone lies in clearly defined
strata gently sloping to the south-south-west
towards the Atlantic.’ From the north-east,
from Galway Bay, this layering appears as a
series of sheltered limestone terraces descend-
ing to the sea, and it is on these terraces that
the majority of the early ecclesiastical monu-
ments are to be found (Illus. 5.1). Large areas of
the upper plateau are particularly exposed to
Atlantic rain and wind and here especially
extensive tracts of bare limestone occur. Again,
however, appearances are deceptive, a little
glacial drift occurs, and, just as in the Burren, a
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thin soil here and there on the limestone sup-
ports innumerable patches of valuable winter
grazing. According to Roderic O’Flaherty in
1684: ‘among these stones is very sweet pas-
ture, so that beef and mutton are better and
earlier in season here than elsewhere ...".6
Indeed, as in the Burren too, the early prehis-
toric inhabitants of Aran would probably have
had to contend with a landscape rather differ-
ent from that of today. The less exposed parts
of the islands in particular probably supported
considerable pine and hazel, as well as some
oak, elm and other trees.

Antiquarian visitors to Aran

Roderic O’Flaherty, Galway historiographer
and one of the last great Gaelic scholars of the
seventeenth century, was the first to publish an
account of the traditional history of Ireland
from the earliest times for the English reader.
His Ogygia seu rerum Hibernicum chronologia,’
which appeared in London in 1685, drew the
attention of the learned world to three of the
great Aran forts including ‘Dun Aengus, a
great stone-work without cement which might
contain in its area two hundred cows, on an
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Illus. 5.1. Map of the Aran
Islands showing principal
sites and monuments.
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GREGORY'S SOUND

amazing eminence of the sea with cliffs of a
stupendous magnitude ...”. The celebrated
Welsh antiquarian Edward Lhuyd visited Aran
in 1700 during his tour of Ireland but, sadly, lit-
tle survives of the material he gathered. He did
comment on the frequent occurrence of the
maidenhair fern and a sketch plan of the fort of
Dun Eochla is preserved.®

Just over a century elapsed before there was
any renewed interest in the islands’ antiquities.
The nineteenth century witnessed a succession
of famous visitors. George Petrie studied the
forts and churches in 1821 and some of the
drawings he made then appeared in the
revised and expanded version of his famous

essay on the origin and uses of the round tow-
ers in Ireland which was published in 1845. He
has been described as ‘the father of sound Irish
archaeology’ because as one historian succinct-
ly put it ‘he succeeded in taking the subject of
Irish antiquity out of the hands of the crack-
pots’.’ John O’Donovan and William F.
Wakeman visited Aran in the Summer of 1839
in the course of their work for the Ordnance
Survey of Ireland.”” O’'Donovan’s numerous
notes preserved in the Ordnance Survey letters
have provided many later writers with materi-
al about the islands’ archaeology. William
Wilde was in Aran in 1848 and discovered
fragments of two high crosses there." He was
followed, a few years later, by Samuel
Ferguson, who drew the attention of a wide
audience to the major monuments of the three
islands in two articles in the Dublin University
Magazine in 1853.

The British Association for the Advancement of
Science met in Dublin in 1857 and Wilde was
president of its Ethnological Section. After the
Dublin meeting he led a famous excursion of
some seventy participants to Aran in early

). September.” Most of the great names of nine-
teenth century Irish archaeological studies
were there, some of them already familiar with
the wealth of Aran’s antiquities. For, as Wilde
declared, ‘the Western Islands of Aran contain
the greatest number of Pagan and early
Christian monuments — military, domestic,
ecclesiastical, and sepulchral — which can be
found within the same area in Europe’. Those
present included George Petrie, Eugene
O’Curry, Samuel Ferguson, Margaret Stokes,
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and John O’Donovan. The proceedings culmi-
nated in an evening banquet in Din Aonghasa.
Among the speeches, those of Wilde,
O’Donovan and O’Curry, in Irish, urged the
people of Aran to protect their monuments.
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It was also resolved that a book should be pub-
lished on the islands’ ancient remains to serve
as a lasting memorial to Wilde’s services as
director of the expedition. Sadly this never
happened though Wilde did produce a short
three-page pamphlet the following year."

Many subsequent visitors to the islands have
commented on their extraordinary wealth of
ancient monuments. Chief among these are
Dunraven and Westropp. Edwin, the third earl
of Dunraven, studied and photographed some
of the major sites, both stone forts and church-
es, in the late 1860s and his work was edited
for posthumous publication in 1875 by
Margaret Stokes." This is the first extensive
photographic record of the islands’ antiquities.
Thomas Johnson Westropp visited Aran in
1878 and on many subsequent occasions. He
published a valuable series of papers including
a general account of the antiquities for the
Royal Society of Antiquaries of Ireland in 1895
and a detailed study of Din Aonghasa in
1910.”

George Henry Kinahan, of the Geological
Survey of Ireland, was another 19th century
scholar to study these ancient monuments. He
was a keen antiquarian and regularly recorded
archaeological sites he noticed in the course of
his geological work. He collaborated with the
Rev. William Kilbride, Rector of Aran, in 1866,
in a study of clochans or stone huts and other
settlements on Inis Mo&r, and Kilbride himself
published an account of other monuments in
1869 in which he records one of the earliest
excavations of one of the clochans.'

No doubt the fame of the Aran monuments
and the numerous publications they prompted
throughout the 19th century were the main rea-

sons which encouraged the taking of many of
them into State care. The fort of Dun
Aonghasa, for instance, was made a National
Monument in 1880 and in the following years it
and a number of other forts and churches were
tidied up and partly restored by the Office of
Public Works."”

The earliest dateable traces of human occupa-
tion then known were discovered in 1885. The
Rev. Denis Murphy, a visitor to Inis Oirr, per-
suaded the Clerk of Works engaged in the
Office of Public Works’ restoration of the
O’Brien Castle at Formna there to investigate a
low mound called Cnoc Raithni on the sea
shore not far away. They discovered a Bronze
Age cremation burial in a pottery urn which
dates to about 1500 BC."

The summer of 1895 saw the first of several
excursions by sea around the coast of Ireland
by the Royal Society of Antiquaries of Ireland.”
That July they visited the three islands and it
was this excursion which prompted T.J.
Westropp’s study published in the Society’s
Journal for the same year.

The new century, as we have seen, saw further
important work by Westropp, as well as visits
by noted scholars such as R.A.S. Macalister®
and H.S. Crawford” who were particularly
interested in the many early Christian remains
there. The Rev. Dr P. Power, Professor of
Archaeology in University College, Cork,
courageously wrote a short guide to the antiq-
uities of Aran in 1926 ‘compiled ... for most
part from twenty five-years old memory’. The
same year also saw the appearance of another
pamphlet on the ecclesiastical remains of Inis
Mor.” Fr M. O Domhnaill devoted considerable
space to the ancient monuments in his Oiledin
Arann of 1930. T.H. Mason, a Dublin optician



79

Chapter 5: The Archaeology of Aran

and a talented photographer, published a book
on The Islands of Ireland in 1936 and wrote a
short account of the antiquities of Inis Ofrr two
years later.

J.R.W. Goulden, a Dublin school master and
amateur archaeologist, undertook a number of
visits to the islands in the late 1940s and early
1950s. He published several short accounts of
some minor monuments and over a three year
period from 1953 to 1955 excavated three
ancient settlement sites on Inis Mér.” Liam de
Paor published a study of the high crosses of
Clare and Aran in 1956. Few general accounts
of Aran have ignored the archaeology. True,
John Millington Synge’s famous The Aran
Islands first published in 1907, has little or noth-
ing to say about the remote past of Inis Meain
or the other islands, but most books have
devoted some space to the islands’ remarkable
collection of forts and churches, often relying
to a considerable extent on the work of
O’Donovan and Westropp. In the 1960s and
1970s works such as P.A. O Siochain’s Aran —
Islands of Legend , Daphne Pochin Mould’s The
Aran Islands, Leo Daly’s Oiledin Arann and
Antoine Powell’s Oiledin Arann — Stair na n-
Oiledin anuas go dti 1922 in the early 1980s all
included accounts of the archaeological monu-
ments.” The 1970s also saw some detailed
archaeological survey” and in 1975 Tim
Robinson published the first results of his car-
tographic work on Aran, presenting a remark-
able record of settlement and monuments, and
an accurate rendering of the Irish placenames.
He followed this with his superb book Stones of
Aran in 1986 which must rank as the finest evo-
cation of the islands’ past and present ever
written.” The early 1980s saw further archaeo-
logical fieldwork on the islands, this time by
the Galway Archaeological Survey under the

auspices of the Office of Public Works and the
Department of Archaeology, University
College, Galway. This survey, under the direc-
tion of Paul Gosling, recorded over 230 ancient
sites.” In 1992 a programme of research on the
great stone forts, initiated by the Discovery
Programme, began with archaeological excava-
tions at Din Aonghasa.”

The three Aran Islands comprise about 11,000
acres, or about 4500 hectares, and it is fair to
say that few other parcels of land of compara-
ble size in Ireland are so rich in ancient
remains, and none has inspired so much litera-
ture, archaeological or otherwise.

Early Inhabitants

With evidence for early farming communities
in the Burren of Co. Clare and in Connemara
about 4000 BC, it is very likely that Aran was
settled at least by that date. The coastal and
island distribution of many early stone tombs
shows that coastal seaways were an important
means of communication in early times when,
no doubt, skin boats, ancestors of the modern
curragh, were widely used. No archaeological
trace of these supposed earliest inhabitants
have yet been identified, however, and the first
certain traces of activity on the islands may
date to about 2500 BC. As is often the case in
the west of Ireland, it is the funerary record
which offers the earliest indication of a human
presence. In the Neolithic period (4500-2500
BC), early farming groups, while living in
impermanent timber houses, still preferred to
build durable megalithic or great stone tombs
to contain the bones of their ancestors. Several
examples of a late type have survived on Aran.
The best preserved is in Eochaill on Inis Mér.
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Illus. 5.2a. Megalithic tomb
at Eochaill viewed from the
eastern rear end: built about
2000 BC, it faces the setting
sun.

Illus. 5.2b. Plan of megalithic
tomb at Eochaill.
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Eochaill Wedge Tomb

This monument is situated on a low grassy
ridge south-west of Teampall an Ceathrar
Alainn (Tllus. 5.2). What seems at first glance to
be a rather roughly built box of limestone slabs
is in fact carefully constructed to a plan com-
mon in the north, west and south-west of
Ireland. In plan, the tomb is lower and narrow-
er at its eastern rear end and a little wider, and
higher, at its western front. This wedge-shaped
plan gives the tomb type its name: it is a wedge
tomb now consisting of two large slabs on
either side, an end stone and three overlapping
roof slabs. There is a line of outer walling on
the south. It may once have been covered by a
cairn of stones but little of this survives. Like
most examples of its class, the tomb faces
approximately west towards the setting sun.
Excavation of examples elsewhere, mainly in
the northern half of the country, has revealed
that the bones of a number of individuals, often
cremated, were placed in these megaliths. Few
objects were ever deposited with the remains
of the dead: fragments of pottery are the com-
monest find. This pottery suggests these tombs
were mainly used between 2200 and 1500 BC.
Somewhere in the Eochaill area, there is pre-
sumably a small settlement of the period await-
ing identification and the tomb and cairn may
once have served not just as a repository for the
bones of selected members of the commumity,
perhaps some sacred ancestors, but also as a
visible symbol of the people’s territorial rights
and as a focus for ritual activities some (given
the orientation of the tomb) perhaps associated
with a cult of the setting sun.

There may have been at least two other tombs
of this sort on Inis Moér, one at Corruch and the
other at Fearann an Choirce, but no trace of
them survives.”



81

Ceathri an Lisin Wedge Tomb

A ruined wedge tomb survives near Baile an
Mhothair on Inis Meain (Illus. 5.3). It is situated
on fairly bare limestone land with a view of the
Clare coast to the east. The side slabs have col-
lapsed to the south with the roof stone lying on
top of them. The size of the side stones sug-
gests that the monument was higher at its
western end, so like its counterparts in
Eochaill, in Clare and elsewhere, it faced west-
ward. A line of typical outer walling is visible
on the north and no trace of cairn remains.
Another similar tomb may have stood some
400 metres to the west in the 19th century but
nothing survives.”

A collapsed megalithic structure in Ceathrd an
Teampaill on the north-west coast of Inis
Meéin may be another wedge tomb: it was a
more or less rectangular structure just under 3
metres in length and its long axis does lie east-
west (Illus. 5.4).

The existence of at least half a dozen megalithic
tombs on the islands is indicative of a small but
significant population around and about 2000
BC. There is a large number of these wedge
tombs in the Burren in Co. Clare and presum-
ably there were close reciprocal contacts
between the islands and this part of the main-
land at this early date. As in the Burren, it is
likely that the island subsistence of these early
inhabitants was based to some degree on stock-
raising: sheep and goat and cattle though sea-
fishing and shell fish probably contributed to
the economy as well.

There is very little other evidence of the activi-
ties of the tomb builders: it is quite possible,
however, that two axeheads of polished stone
date to this period. Two of these (Illus. 5.5)
were found in 1961 on Inis Oirr when digging a
pit for road building material near Cill
Ghobnait and a third comes from a shell mid-

Chapter 5: The Archaeology of Aran

den on Inis Medin. Made of various sorts of
polished stone, implements such as these
would originally have been mounted in a
wooden haft. They were probably mainly used
for felling small trees, though more lethal
usage is not impossible.*

F SO

Illus. 5.3a. A collapsed mega-
lithic tomb at Ceathrii an
Lisin, Inis Medin.

Illus. 5.3b. Plan of megalithic
tomb at Ceathrii an Lisin.

Illus. 5.4. Collapsed mega-
lithic structure at Ceathrii an
Teampaill, Inis Medin.
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Illus. 5.5. Some archaeological finds from Aran and Clare: 1-2.
Polished stone axeheads found near Cill Ghobnait, Inis Oirr. 3.
Polished stone axehead found in a shell midden on Inis Medin.
4-6. A Bronze Age cordoned urn, a second smaller pottery vessel
and a bronze pin (?) fragment from Cnoc Raithni, Inis Otrr
(after Wakeman). 7. An unfinished stone ‘battle-axe’ found near
Baile an Lurgain. 8. A complete "battle-axe’ from nearby
Teergonean in Co. Clare. 9. Socketed bronze axehead from
Formna.

The Cnoc Raithni Burial

In 1885 a low mound close to an Tra on Inis
Oirr was examined by a visiting clergyman,
Rev. Denis Murphy, S.J., and the Clerk of
Works who was then completing the Office of
Public Works’ restoration of O’Brien’s Castle
nearby. Only rather cursory accounts of this
early unscientific excavation exist. According
to the Rev. Murphy:

‘a mound or hillock close to Tragh Kiera... was
found to be surrounded, at a depth of some ten
feet from the surface, by the foundation of a
thick wall, roughly built of large stones, with-
out any sign of mortar... When the foundations
were laid bare, and the whole circle of the
cashel was opened up, on digging a little into
the mound inside this wall, we came on some
tall stones, four feet in height set on end, and
enclosing a circular space of about five feet in
diameter. We set about clearing away the sand
between them, and at a depth of three feet from
the top of them and ten feet from the surface of
the mound we came on the smaller of the two
urns. We removed the sand around it very
carefully, hoping to be able to raise it whole
and without a break from its position. But
when it was touched, ever so gently, it fell to
pieces, as if it were made of sand. These we put
together carefully bit by bit ... Continuing the
search within the same stone circle, we soon
came on another and larger urn ... The contents
of both urns were bones, a substance like
charred peat, and sand. The sand will have fall-
en in owing to pressure from above ...".
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This account is accompanied by drawings of
both pottery vessels by W.F. Wakeman who
also recorded the fact that a small piece of
bronze about 1.6cm long (the pointed end of a
pin or an awl) was found in the smaller one.”
Judging from Murphy’s description a large
mound, apparently of sand, was removed, in
whole or in part, to reveal a circular stone wall
at a depth of 3m. Within this circular area, a
circular stone-built grave about 1.5m in diame-
ter and about 90cm deep contained two pots
each containing fragments of cremated human
bone. The larger of the two is a fine example of
a Bronze Age Cordoned Urn dating to about
1500 BC (Illus. 5.5). They are so named because
they invariably have two or more raised
mouldings or cordons around the exterior of a
somewhat bucket-shaped body and one broad
zone of simple geometric ornament below the
rim. A few examples are known elsewhere in
Co. Galway and in Co. Mayo but urns of this
type are mainly found in north-eastern Ireland
and in Scotland. It is possible that individuals
accorded this sort of burial were privileged in
some way — a large pottery urn may have been
some mark of status and only certain members
of the community may have been honoured
with formal burial and a ritual which demand-
ed the building of a large cremation pyre some-
where on Inis Oirr three and half thousand
years ago.

A low mound known as Cnoc Raithni, the hill
of ferns, is usually identified as the location of
these two Bronze Age cremations. It is a rough-
ly circular mound surrounded by a drystone
wall some 21m in diameter. The mound is flat-
topped and has, in its southern half, a number
of protruding slabs which seem to be traces of
a couple of long slab-lined graves. To the north
of these possible graves a small sub-rectangu-
lar mound with a drystone kerb sits on top of

Chapter 5: The Archaeology of Aran
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the oval mound. What appears to be a rectan-
gular setting of slabs protrudes from the flat
top of this feature and two upright slabs stand
near its western end (Illus. 5.6). This is a puz-
zling monument, there is certainly no trace of
the circular cremation grave and how much of
either the large mound or the small rectangular
mound is due to 19th century restoration work
is uncertain. Long slab-lined graves are often
dated to the early Christian period and it is

Illus. 5.6a. Cnoc Raithni,
Inis Oirr: burial mound. The
circular mound has several
stone settings in it which may
be pre-Christian graves. It
may have produced a Bronze
Age burial dating to 1500
BC. The site was restored in
the 19th century.

Illus 5.6b. Plan of Cnoc
Raithni burial mound.
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possible that Cnoc Raithni is a complex multi-
period structure, a prehistoric site re-used at a
later date.”

One stone object from Inis Oirr may be proba-
bly contemporary with the Cordoned Urn bur-
ial. This is an unfinished stone ‘battle-axe’, a
casual surface find in 1970 near Baile an
Lurgdain (Illus. 5.5). If finished it would have
resembled an example from Teergonean town-
land on the nearby Clare coast. Highly pol-
ished, with a relatively slender perforation for
a wooden haft, these objects were hardly offen-
sive weapons as their fanciful name implies. It
is generally believed that they had some cere-
monial role and were possibly symbols of pres-
tige.

Activity on Aran in the later Bronze Age,
around and about 800 BC. is indicated by one
other Inis Oirr find. This is a bronze socketed
axehead (Illus. 5.5) found just 20cm below the
surface in a field at Formna.” It would original-
ly have been mounted in a bent wooden haft
and the loop may have served to take a leather
thong to bind the two together. Early occupa-
tion on the site of the great fort of Dun
Aonghasa on Inis Mor dates to this period as
well.

The Stone Forts

The half a dozen great stone-built forts on the
Aran Islands are splendid examples of their
kind and they have captured the imagination
of numerous visitors since at least the 19th cen-
tury. This type of fort is well known in western
Ireland in particular, from Donegal to Kerry,
and quite a few fine examples occur in Co.
Clare, but the special attraction of the Aran
monuments lies in great measure in their dra-
matic and relatively remote location.

Two of the forts stand apart from the rest, for
Dan Dichathair and the famous Din

Aonghasa, both on Inis Mor, are situated on
the cliffs of the inhospitable Atlantic coast and
seem to many to confront the unknown haz-
ards of an immense ocean.

Din Aonghasa
...the most magnificent barbaric monu-
ment in Europe’

George Petrie

The great fort of Diin Aonghasa stands on the
edge of a sheer sea cliff nearly 100m high and
also dominates the lower lands of Cill
Mhuirbhigh to the north-east (Illus. 5. 7-8).
Today the eye of the visitor is caught at once by
the imposing stone wall of the inner fort, an
almost semi-circular enclosure on the cliff
edge. But the monument is much more com-

Illus. 5.7. General plan of
plex than that, it has outer defences enclosing a

Diin Aonghasa (after Cotter).

;. Chevaux de frise

Middle enclosure

Outer enclosure

inner enclosure

—1 125 metres

Cliff edge
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total area of 5.7 hectares (14 acres) and may
have been modified more than once in ancient
times as well as being restored in the 1880s.
The crude buttresses which now support the
ramparts at various points are recent additions.

Illus. 5.8. Diin Aonghasa:
"the most magnificent barbaric
monument in Europe’. The
great wall of the inner fort and
two of the three outer ram-
parts are visible, as is the
stone chevaux-de-frise.
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Illus. 5.9. Rampart of inner
fort with sidelong flights of
steps to the right of the mural
chamber.

Illus. 5.10 opposite page.
Entrance to inner fort viewed
from the interior with vertical
flights of steps to the right.

Illus. 5.11 opposite page.
Westropp's sketch plan of the
rampart of the inner fort
showing the terracing and the
presence of internal faces.

Inner Fort

The stone-built rampart of the inner fort is
about 4m high at present but in the 1830s parts
of it were up to 5.5m high. It has a slight exter-
nal batter, that is it slopes inwards from base to
top to give greater stability and has a maxi-
mum thickness of over 5m. The low, narrow,
lintelled entrance is on the north-east; its inner-
most section is an unroofed passage.

The interior is of irregular U-shaped plan, with
an average diameter of about 47m and now
open to the Atlantic at the southern cliff edge.
Presumably the enclosure was once an oval or
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at least D-shaped with a wall or rampart on
this seaward side. No written records survive
to testify to its original shape and it seems like-
ly that part of the fort collapsed into the sea in
the remote past. The inside of the rampart is
terraced and, in the northern half of the enclo-
sure, half-a-dozen sets of stone steps give
access to the two levels of terracing below the
parapet (Illus. 5. 9-10).

Here we are confronted with the problems
posed by the 1880s restoration, for no records
seem to have been kept of what was then
found and what actually prompted the con-
struction or reconstruction of the features visi-
ble today. That there were terraces and steps is
not in doubt, however. Though the monument
was very dilapidated and the walls ruined (as
Dunraven’s pre-restoration photographs
show?) internal features were visible. Petrie
who first visited it in 1821 refers to ‘a level ter-
race at the height of 6 feet from the ground’
and O’Donovan noted that this rampart ‘is
made up of three distinct walls built up against
each other, each wall faced with stones of con-
siderable size ... The two external divisions are
here raised to the height of 18 feet, but the
internal division is at present only 7 feet high
...".” The construction of the rampart in sec-
tions, with several internal wall faces (Illus.
5.11) may reflect various phases of additional
walling. The purpose of such internal facing in
ramparts is not clear: some may be an attempt
to give greater stability but some may indeed
be due to the addition of extra walling just to
give a more massive appearance to the struc-
ture. In any event the fort we see today is the
result of a number of refurbishments in ancient
times, long before the restoration work of the
19th century. Samuel Ferguson, writing in
1853, has offered the clearest of the all-too-brief
pre-restoration accounts of the interior: ‘At the
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right, on entering, are the remains of a flight of
steps conducting to the lower banquette, the
form of which is with difficulty traceable
among the masses of fallen stone. One or two
other indications of stairs may be detected, but
were it not for the very distinct construction of
the rampart in three concentric sections, one
would be at a loss to understand the principle
of the construction. On ascending the mound
[of stones], however, the three concentric walls
are seen in perfect distinctness, the middle one
rising through the ruins of the other two, save
in one or two points, where the exterior enve-
lope still stands to near its original height’.
Thus the two internal terraces visible today are
likely to be approximate representations of
what there once was.*

The original number of stone steps is problem-
atical.” Clearly the short straight flight of steps
to the right of the entrance (to the north as the
visitor enters) is original, Ferguson noted it as
we have seen. Both straight and sidelong
flights of steps were noted in 1878,* and the
pair of sidelong flights of steps on the north-
west is probably original too.” To what extent
the other straight flights of steps, the one on the
north leading from the lower to the upper ter-
race, and the pair to the south of the entrances
(running from ground level to the lower terrace
and from there to the second terrace) reflect
original features is not known. They may have
been figments of the restorers’ imagination,
perhaps even built just to facilitate the modern
visitor. This seems unlikely, however, because
what little evidence there is, from pre-restora-
tion accounts of Din Aonghasa as well as from
other restored Aran monuments, be they forts
or churches, suggests that while walls may
have been rebuilt and consolidated and some
much ruined flights of steps may not have been ///AT GATEWAY
recognised, few, if any, invented features were
added.®

INNER WALL .
ATSTEPS'D
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The only visible feature in the enclosure is a
natural rectangular platform of limestone
about 60cm high abutting the edge of the cliff,
its purpose is unknown. There is also a small
rectangular chamber in the western wall at
ground level just south of the lower sidelong
flight of steps.

On the outside there are several vertical joints
in the rampart, these are usually considered to
represent the construction of the wall in sec-
tions by different groups of labourers and have
been identified in other stone forts elsewhere.

Outer Defences

Some sort of modification seems to have been
done to some of the outer defences. These outer
works now comprise two stone ramparts, a
fragment of a third and a stone chevaux-de-frise.

Beyond the inner fort, the middle enclosure is
formed by a long irregular rampart with one
terrace and one internal medial facing. The ter-
race of this middle rampart is an original fea-
ture, it was recorded by Petrie and Ferguson,
for instance, neither of whom record steps or
more than one entrance.”” Westropp noted no
steps either in 1878 so the flight of steps by the
north-eastern entrance may not be ancient. It
does not follow that every terraced stone ram-
part had to have stone steps, the former pres-
ence of wooden steps and walk-ways is a pos-
sibility. On the north there is a lintelled
entrance and another unroofed passage-like
entrance on the north-east. A third occurs on
the north-west and faces an entrance in the
fragment of rampart which survives some 14m
away at this point.*

The fragment of rampart is roughly similar in

Illus. 5.12. 'Like infinite
head-stones of the dead’: the
stones of the almost impene-
trable chevaux-de-frise
impede the approach to the
middle and fragmentary ram-
parts.
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construction to the middle rampart, it has one
terrace in places, one surviving entrance and
no surviving steps. Petrie, however, records 2
flights of steps’.*

Chevaux-de-frise

Immediately outside this fragment on the west
and north and beyond the middle rampart on
the north and east is one of Diin Aonghasa’s
most noteworthy features. This is the stone
chevaux-de-frise which more or less extends in a
great band 15 to 38m wide around the fortifica-
tions from cliff to cliff; some of the stones are
up to 1.75m high (Illus. 5.12). The name
chevaux-de-frise is used to describe wooden
stakes or upright pointed stones placed in the
ground outside a fort to hinder attackers and it
is said to derive from spikes used by Frisians to
impede enemy cavalry in the late 17th century.*
Though now much ruined in places this defen-
sive work is an impressive sight and must once
have formed an almost impenetrable obstacle
to anyone approaching the outer defences:
when first erected the limestone pillars must
have been a razor sharp deterrent to any
attacker and since the terrain in any event pre-
cluded mounted assault their purpose must
have been to impede an attack on foot on the
middle rampart. Today they stand, a relic of a
long forgotten threat, and, in the words of
Samuel Ferguson, ‘arranged round the base of
the fortress, like infinite head-stones of the
dead’.®

The outer wall at Din Aonghasa is a modest
and dilapidated structure which was originally
at least 2m thick and still has, on the north, a
lintelled gateway; it may have had a medial
facing and possibly a terrace.*

A glance at the plan of the fort as it is today
clearly shows that the middle rampart falls into
three sections. The length on the west and

north-west is concentric both with the inner
rampart and with the fragment. It is possible
that these two sections once continued east and
south to form a great oval trivallate fort. But
there is no trace whatever of such a continua-
tion on the ground and no one knows, of
course, how much of the cliff has disappeared
into the sea over the centuries. The existence of
the fragment and the abrupt change in direc-
tion in the middle rampart do indicate some
modification.” At a guess the original fort may
have been a D-shaped cliff fort like the well-
known stone fort at Cahercommaun, in the
Burren, in Co. Clare.

Excavation

Excavation in the inner enclosure has demon-
strated that the site was first occupied in the
later Bronze Age about 800 BC. The founda-
tions of circular huts have been found along
with fragments of plain pottery vessels and
broken pieces of clay moulds for the casting of
bronze swords, spears and axes have been
found (Illus. 5.13): the bronze casting in partic-
ular implies that this may have been a settle-
ment of some importance at the time suggest-
ing as it does the presence of specialised craft-
workers such as weapon smiths. Other objects
found date to the early Christian period 500-
1000 AD. Traces of several circular hut founda-
tions have also been discovered as well as ani-
mal bones (mostly sheep and some cattle) and
bones of birds and fish. It is also possible that
the site was occupied through the Iron Age, a
brooch of this period was discovered in the last
century, but other evidence for this is scant<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>